

Review

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Materials Science and Engineering C



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/msec

Humic acids: Structural properties and multiple functionalities for novel technological developments



Bruna Alice Gomes de Melo, Fernanda Lopes Motta, Maria Helena Andrade Santana *

Development of Biotechnological Processes Laboratory, School of Chemical Engineering, University of Campinas, 13083-852 Campinas, São Paulo, Brazil

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 16 July 2015 Received in revised form 11 November 2015 Accepted 2 December 2015 Available online 3 December 2015

Keywords: Humic acids Humic substances Reactive oxygen species Antioxidant

ABSTRACT

Humic acids (HAs) are macromolecules that comprise humic substances (HS), which are organic matter distributed in terrestrial soil, natural water, and sediment. HAs differ from the other HS fractions (fulvic acid and humins) in that they are soluble in alkaline media, partially soluble in water, and insoluble in acidic media. Due to their amphiphilic character, HAs form micelle-like structures in neutral to acidic conditions, which are useful in agriculture, pollution remediation, medicine and pharmaceuticals. HAs have undefined compositions that vary according to the origin, process of obtainment, and functional groups present in their structures, such as quinones, phenols, and carboxylic acids. Quinones are responsible for the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in HAs, which are useful for wound healing and have fungicidal/bactericidal properties. Phenols and carboxylic acids deprotonate in neutral and alkaline media and are responsible for various other functions, such as the antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of HAs. In particular, the presence of phenolic groups in HAs provides antioxidant properties due to their free radical scavenging capacity. This paper describes the main multifunctionalities of HAs associated with their structures and properties, focusing on human health applications, and we note perspectives that may lead to novel technological developments. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first review to address this topic from this approach.

© 2015 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	967					
2.	HAs structure and composition	968					
3.	HAs properties	968					
	3.1. Solubility and pH dependence	968					
	3.2. Amphiphilic character	969					
	3.2.1. Solubilization of hydrophobics	969					
	3.3. Binding cationic metals	970					
4.	Role in human health	970					
	4.1. Medicine	970					
	4.2. Pharmaceutical and cosmetic areas	972					
	4.3. Toxicity	972					
5.	Novel technological developments	972					
6.	Conclusions	972					
Ackı	Acknowledgments						
Refe	References						

1. Introduction

Humic acids (HAs) are macromolecules that comprise humic substances (HS), which are organic matter distributed in terrestrial soil,

Corresponding author.
 E-mail address: mariahelena.santana@gmail.com (M.H.A. Santana).

natural water, and sediments resulting from the decay of vegetable and natural residues [1]. Commercial HAs are extracted from peat and coal, which are non-renewable sources of carbon. Recently, it was demonstrated that HAs could be produced by fermentation using the empty fruit bunch (EFB) of palm trees as a substrate, which is a natural and sustainable resource [2]. Furthermore, chemical synthesis can also be used to produce HAs through polymerization/condensation reactions [3,4]. HAs are the fractions of HS that are soluble in alkaline media, partially soluble in water and insoluble in acidic media [5,6]. This classification parameter may vary with the HAs composition, pH, and ionic strength [7]. Due to their amphiphilic character, HAs form micelle-like structures, called pseudo-micelles in neutral to acidic conditions [8,9]. This property has been explored for use in pollution remediation [10–14] and to increase the water solubility of hydrophobic drugs [15,16].

HAs contain different functional groups whose quantities depend on the origin, age, climate, and environmental conditions of extraction/ production of the HAs [5,17,18]. The various functions of HAs are mainly attributable to the phenol and carboxylic acid functional groups [19], which allow the deprotonation of OH/OOH. This situation provides HAs with many capabilities, such as the improvement of plant growth and nutrition [20–23], complexation with heavy metals [24], and antiviral and anti-inflammatory activity [25–29]. In addition, the presence of phenols, carboxylic acids and quinones in the structure of HAs is related to their antioxidant, antimutagenic/desmutagenic and fungicidal/ bactericidal activities [30–33].

The use of HAs is quite consolidated in agriculture [34,35] and pollution remediation [36,37]. Recently, review articles by Calvo et al. [38] and Canellas et al. [39] addressed the specific effects of HAs on plants and their role on the plant growth, yield and nutrient uptake. Meanwhile, Tang et al. [40] and Sun et al. [41] discussed the importance of HAs in the treatment of water and waste gas, respectively. In medicine, HAs have been studied for the treatment and prevention of diseases [31,42-44]. The main medical aspects and applications of HAs were described by Klöcking & Helbig [27]. More recently, van Rensburg [45] highlighted the anti-inflammatory properties of HS in a minireview. However, the application of HAs in the pharmaceutical and cosmetic fields has not been well explored despite their great potential, such as in the solubilization of hydrophobic drugs, in UV-visible absorption and as an antioxidant [15,16,30,46]. In previous work, we demonstrated that HAs interact with Pluronic F127 (PF127) to form stable nanoparticles, which can be used for pharmaceutical applications as-is or after entrapping nonpolar drugs [47]. In 2005, Peña-Méndez et al. [48] noted the applications of HS in environmental and biomedical applications. However, there is a lack of published studies that bring together all the functional effects of HAs related to their structural properties, as well as their toxicity and applications, especially in pharmaceutical and cosmetic areas.

Therefore, this review aims to be the first to present the multifunctionalities of HAs, associating them with their structure and properties, and note novel technological developments. Moreover, the role of HAs in human health is highlighted.

2. HAs structure and composition

The chemical composition of HAs can vary according to geographical origin, age, climate and biological conditions, making the precise characterization of these substances difficult [49]. Their molecular weights are in the range of 2.0 to 1300 kDa [17], and they contain many functional groups, as shown in Fig. 1. HAs are mainly composed of phenolic, carboxylic acid, enolic, quinone, and ether functional groups but may also include sugars and peptides [5]. However, the phenolic and carboxylic groups are more prevalent in HAs structures. The huge structure of an HA molecule is composed of hydrophilic portions, consisting of OH groups, and hydrophobic portions, consisting of aliphatic chains and aromatic rings.

The phenolic and carboxylic groups are responsible for the weak acid behavior of HAs. The total acidity (phenolic + carboxylic group acidity) of the compounds extracted from soil, water, and geologic deposits was found to be approximately 6 meq g^{-1} [50].

Quinones are electron-accepting groups and are responsible for the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). They are reduced to semiquinones, which are stabilized by their aromatic rings and further reduced into hydroquinones, which are even more stable (Fig. 2) [51].

Aeschbacher et al. [52] evaluated the electron-accepting (quinone) and electron-donating (phenol) moieties in HAs obtained from different sources. The origin and age of these substances were found to have a direct effect on their redox properties. ¹³C NMR analyses have shown that aquatic HAs have higher numbers of electron-donating and lower numbers of electron-accepting moieties than terrestrial HAs, as verified by Scott et al. [51]. The authors supported the hypothesis that the phenolic groups in HAs slow the oxidative transformation of quinones, increasing their permanence in oxic environments.

There is an agreement in the literature on the average elemental composition of HAs extracted from different sources, including commercial HAs, which are approximately 50% C, 35% O, and 5% H, with the remaining percentage distributed between N and S, as shown in Table 1.

3. HAs properties

The main properties of HAs, such as solubility, pH dependence, interaction with hydrophobic groups, and metal chelation, are related to their structure, i.e., their amphiphilicity and the different functional groups that comprise each molecule. Table 2 shows the functional effects of HAs used in different applications areas, relating them to their structural properties.

3.1. Solubility and pH dependence

HAs are generally considered soluble in neutral to alkaline conditions [5]. This property varies with the chemical composition of these substances and thereby with their origin.

In alkaline media, phenolic and carboxylic groups are deprotonated, and the repulsion of these negatively charged groups causes the molecules to assume a stretched configuration. Upon decreasing the pH, the functional groups are protonated, and the effects of repulsion



Fig. 1. Model of HA structure.

Figure adapted with permission from Mirza et al. [15]. Copyright (2011) Taylor & Francis Ltd. (www.tandfonline.com).



Fig. 2. Quinone, semiquinone, and hydroquinone structures and their oxy-redox reactions.

are minimized, causing the molecule to adopt a coiled and compact structure. In this stage, the hydrophobic portions are in the interior of the structure, and the hydrophilic portions are in contact with the aqueous medium. This behavior is responsible for the detergent characteristics of HAs, their micelle-like organization, and the decrease of the superficial tension. These molecules form aggregates on an intramolecular level, followed by intermolecular aggregation and ultimately precipitation, as suggested by von Wandruszka [9] and shown in Fig. 3.

Prado et al. [89] have noted that pH is related to not only the solubility but also the stability of aqueous suspensions of HAs. A diffuse electric double layer is formed around the charged particles, protecting them and allowing the system to become uncharged. Moreover, the ion concentrations determine the particles' charge protection, which is greater for lower ionic strength systems because the ionic species will have a stronger interaction with the electric layer than with the solvent molecules.

At neutral pH, the solubilization of HAs is only partial. Although HAs can be found dissolved in water in nature, not all isolated solid preparations will dissolve. Kluc áková & Pekar [6] proposed different dissolution mechanisms for a lignite HAs-water suspension in which the solid has insoluble and soluble fractions. Because HAs are a weak polyelectrolyte, they can exist in water as dissolved molecules and in the dissociated form (Eq. (1)). This mechanism corresponds to the soluble fraction of HAs. The insoluble fraction interacts with the environment through the surface and acts as an ion-exchanger by releasing H⁺ ions into solution while anions remain insoluble (Eq. (2)).

$$HA_{(S)} \leftrightarrow HA_{(aq)} \leftrightarrow H^{+}_{(aq)} + A^{-}_{(aq)}$$
(1)

$$HA_{(S)} \leftrightarrow H^{+}_{(aq)} + A^{-}_{(S)}$$
⁽²⁾

Therefore, the dissolution of HAs molecules in water is more complex than that of common sparingly soluble solids because HAs are

 Table 1

 Elemental compositions of HAs extracted from different sources.

HAs	C (%)	H (%)	N (%)	0 (%)	S (%)	References
Commercial (Sigma-Aldrich)	55.6	5.5	4.5	34.4	1.2	[33]
Soil IHSS standard	58.1	3.7	4.1	34.1	-	[53]
Peat soil	50.4	4.9	2.8	39.1	0.7	[44]
Sediments	43.7-53.8	4.1-5.8	3.5-6.2	31.1-37.1	-	[45]
Sewage sludge	52.8	6.8	6.5	33.9	0.1	[54]
EFB*	56.3	5.7	4.4	32.9	1.2	[32]
River	51.2	4.7	2.6	40.4	1.9	[55]
Leonardite	63.8	3.7	1.2	31.3	-	[53]

* EFB – Empty Fruit Bunch.

not a single component but a mixture of components, only some of which are soluble in water.

3.2. Amphiphilic character

Many studies in the literature have reported the use of HAs as an alternative for solubilizing nonpolar substances in aqueous environments [10–14], with greater emphasis on their interaction with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), which are relatively insoluble in water and exhibit toxicity and carcinogenicity. The interactions between HAs and these nonpolar contaminants are noncovalent, and these compounds are solubilized at the hydrophobic core of HAs pseudo-micelles [24].

3.2.1. Solubilization of hydrophobics

Lassen & Carlsen [11] verified the effect of dissolved commercial HAs in solubilizing solid fluorene and its heteroanalogs: carbazole, dibenzofuran, and dibenzothiophene. The PAHs were dispersed in water containing different amounts of HAs, and an increase in the apparent aqueous solubility of all PAHs that was also affected by HAs concentration was observed. The solubility of fluorene increased by 50% in the presence of 0–200 mg L^{-1} HAs, while the solubility of dibenzothiophene increased by more than 600% in the presence of 0-100 mg L^{-1} HAs. Furthermore, it was found that HAs adsorb to dispersed PAHs particles, but this sorption competes with the dissolution mechanism. Thus, lower sorption leads to a stronger solubility effect of HAs on the PAHs particles. The constant of interaction, *K*, will vary among PAHs and decreases as the concentration of HAs in the solution increases. This behavior may be related to changes in the conformation of the HAs structure, which tends to coil up with increasing HAs concentration, as also found with decreasing pH and increasing ionic strength [90]. This coiling restricts the hydrophobic interaction between the two substances because the nonpolar fraction of HAs is located in the inner portion of the structure.

More recently, Tejeda-Agredano et al. [12] investigated the influence of HAs on the biodegradation of PAHs by microorganisms. The availability of these compounds to microorganisms is affected by their low water solubility, which interferes with their dissipation in polluted soil and sediments. Their study showed that the degradation of pyrene at a concentration above its solubility was significantly faster in the presence of HAs. On the other hand, HAs can inhibit cell adhesion on PAHs surfaces, limiting the biodegradation process.

In the medical, pharmaceutical, and cosmetic areas, different strategies for increasing the aqueous solubility of nonpolar compounds have been explored recently using such carriers as lipid nanoparticles [91], liposomes [92], cyclodextrins [93], and polymeric particles [94]. In addition to solubilizing hydrophobic compounds, HAs have surfactant characteristics, which makes them a potential new technology for cosmetic and drug delivery. Few studies in the literature have reported

970 Table 2

Applications of HAs and their functional effects related to their structures.

HAs technological application	Functional effects	Structural properties	References
Pollution remediation	Chelates heavy metals	OH/OOH deprotonation	[24,36,37,40,41,56-59]
	Solubilizes hydrophobic pollutants	Amphiphilic character	[10-14,60,61]
Agriculture	Plant growth and nutrition	OH/OOH deprotonation	[22,23,34,35,39]
	Plant growth and nutrition	Production of active oxygen (ROS)	[38,62–64]
	Bactericidal	Production of active oxygen (ROS)	[32,65]
	Fungicidal	Production of active oxygen (ROS)	[33]
Medicine	Antiviral	OH/OOH deprotonation	[25-27,29,46,66]
	Anti-inflammatory	OH/OOH deprotonation	[27,28,45,67-70]
	Antimutagenic/desmutagenic	Presence of OOH	[31,44,71–73]
	Wound healing	Production of active oxygen (ROS)	[27,42,45,74,75]
	Cancer therapy	Production of active oxygen (ROS)	[42,76–79]
	Prion disease therapy	OH/OOH deprotonation	[38]
Pharmaceutical and cosmetic	UV-vis protection	UV-vis absorption	[3,46,80]
	Antioxidant	Presence of OH	[30,52,81-85]
	Drug solubilizer and carrier	Amphiphilic character	[15,16,47,86-88]

the use of HAs as an alternative means of solubilizing, loading, and consequently enhancing the bioavailability of hydrophobics. Such studies will be discussed further below.

3.3. Binding cationic metals

The ability of HAs to bind cationic metals and form complexes makes them useful in various applications, such as the transport of micronutrients from the soil to plants [20], the removal of heavy metals from soil and water [24], the inhibition of the formation of free radicals by metal catalysis [95], reduction, and stabilization of metal nanoparticles [96].

The role of metal ions in solution is the same as that of H⁺ ions, namely, charge neutralization, and the higher the charge, the more effectiveness the cation is in the formation of pseudo-micelles. Furthermore, multivalent cations interact with phenolic and carboxylic groups on adjacent chains, enhancing pseudo-micellar domains and the detergent effect. The mechanism of this interaction proposed by von Wandruszka [9] is as follows. The interaction between HAs molecules and metal cations is initially entirely electrostatic, and the cations move to their thermodynamically preferred locations within the structure. This process forms spherical HAs-metal complexes, as shown in Fig. 4. Studies on HAs-metal binding have shown that this interaction varies according to the metal and is influenced by the metal concentration and the origin, molecular weight, and concentration of HAS [24,97].

Christl et al. [97] demonstrated that the binding capacity between HAs and metals is associated with the molecular size of HAs. ¹³C NMR analysis verified that HAs fractions with lower molecular weight have the highest number of phenolic and carboxylic groups and are therefore the fractions that can bind metals most efficiently. In another work, Christl & Kretzschmar [99] observed that higher concentrations of metal could improve the effectiveness of the interaction. At high concentrations of Cu^{2+} , the binding capacity of HAs was improved, especially in smaller molecules. In the same work, protonation assays were performed using Cu^{2+} , and the H⁺/Cu²⁺ exchange ratios of HAs suggested that Cu and HAs bind as monodentate and bidentate

complexes. However, these characteristics vary according to the metal being complexed.

Yates & von Wandruszka [24] verified the affinity of leonardite HAs with different metals by retention in an HAs-packed column, finding that Pb^{2+} and Cu^{2+} had the greatest affinity for the column and that Mg^{2+} had the lowest. The low retention of Mg^{2+} is attributed to the low availability of HAs sites to this ion because of its large radius, which is the largest among the cations tested.

The ability of HAs to bind metals and form complexes, enabling their use as a pollution remedy by removing heavy metals from water and soil, is a fairly recent topic in the literature [56–59]. However, if the environment is acidic, which is typical of metal-polluted water, the solubility of HAs is reduced, which interferes in the formation of HAsmetal complexes.

4. Role in human health

Relative to their applications in agriculture and pollution treatment, there are few discussions of the use of HAs for the benefit of human health and wellness in the literature. In the following section, we will consider the effects and mechanisms of HAs in medical, pharmaceutical and cosmetic contexts as well as their toxicity to the human organism.

4.1. Medicine

Several works in the literature have studied the medicinal properties of HAs, which have been reported to be strong allies in the treatment of many diseases. The antiviral activity of HAs was observed against many viruses, such as cytomegalovirus (CMV), vaccine viruses, and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) and type 2 (HIV-2) [25,27,29]. HAs molecules, which assume a negative charge in neutral to basic media, can inhibit virus replication by binding cationic domains of the virus, which are necessary for virus attachment to the cell surface [29]. The anti-HIV activity of these substances was demonstrated through inhibition of the infectivity of in vitro human lymphocytes, in addition to blocking the formation of syncytia between infected and noninfected lymphocytes [26]. van Resburg & Naude [67] have demonstrated



Fig. 3. Behavior of HAs molecules in alkaline conditions and the aggregation process upon pH reduction. Alkaline pH: charge repulsion (A). Decreasing pH: intramolecular aggregation (B). Decreasing pH: intermolecular aggregation (C). Acidic pH: precipitation (D).



Fig. 4. Interaction of Mg²⁺ ions with an HA molecule and its folding around the hydrophobic region. Figure adapted with permission from Engebretson & von Wandruszka [98] Copyright (1994) American Chemical Society.

that potassium humate inhibits the production of inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6) due to the binding properties of HS, and Junek et al. [28] have shown the bimodal effect of HAs on (LPS)-induced TNF- α release in human U937 cells. TNF- α is a cytokine with an important protective role against microbial effects, but at high levels, it is associated with many inflammatory diseases [100,101]. It was shown that at low concentrations of HAs, the TNF- α release is enhanced (pro-inflammatory effect), whereas at high concentrations (>100 µg ml⁻¹), the release is reduced approximately 10-fold (anti-inflammatory effect). The authors attributed the bimodal effect of HAs to the presence of negatively charged functional groups because it is known that other polyanionic compounds induce changes in cytokine production.

HAs are also recognized as inhibitors of mutagenesis, possessing an antimutagenic activity that blocks the mutagenesis process inside the cell and a desmutagenic activity that inhibits mutagenesis outside the cell [44]. Ferrara et al. [31] have investigated the capacity of HAs to reduce the mutagenicity of mitomycin C (MMC) in the human lymphoblastoid cell line TK6. A significant desmutagenic activity in cells treated with a combination of HAs (leonardite and soil HAs) was verified by the induction of micronuclei (MN), whereas the antimutagenic activity was observed in a more limited way. In both cases, higher efficiency was observed at higher HAs concentrations, and the results varied with the type of HAs used. The authors related the biological activity to the concentration and composition of HAs, which changes according to the origin, age, and biological conditions of the HAs, as already mentioned.

Prion diseases are a group of neuropathies caused by a conformational modification in the structure of prion proteins (PrP). Normal PrP (PrP^C) are induced by a modified protein (PrP^{SC}) that changes their conformation from α -helical motifs to β -sheet secondary structures through a posttranslational process [102]. In Legname et al. [43], it was found that HAs could eliminate PrP^{SC} infectivity from chronically infected living cells. The mechanism proposed by the authors is direct binding between HAs and PrP^C blocking the conversion reaction from the normal PrP to the misfolded one.

The ability of HAs to bind metals was explored in medicine in a study by Litvin & Minaev [96]. The group synthetized silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) coated with synthetic HAs by electrostatic interactions to obtain a combination of biologically active nanoparticles for medical applications. It was verified that HAs were able to stabilize AgNPs via their repulsive forces for a long period of time (1 year). In addition, the antibacterial abilities of HAs enhance this effect on the AgNPs, suggesting that these conjugated nanoparticles have great potential in the preparation of pharmaceuticals.

HAs can have a positive effect on wound healing and cancer therapy, as suggested by Jurcsik [42]. The healing process requires extra oxygen, and this demand appears in the first minute after wounding due to phagocytosis, the main event in wound healing process, which is very oxygen-consumptive [42]. Semiquinones are able to produce ROS through different mechanisms, as shown in Fig. 5. In the presence of molecular oxygen, semiquinones produce superoxide ions, which are converted to hydrogen peroxide in the presence of superoxide dismutase. The superoxide ions produce hydroxyl radicals by reacting with transition metals (Fenton reaction) or hydrogen peroxide (Harber-Weiss reaction).

Quinones are widely studied in cancer therapy because ROS cause oxidative stress and induce apoptosis in cancer cells through DNA fragmentation and can also act as an intracellular signal of the apoptosis cascade. Moreover, quinones directly interfere in the apoptosis of normal and cancer cells in a concentration-dependent manner [76–79, 103].



Fig. 5. Redox cycle of quinone.

4.2. Pharmaceutical and cosmetic areas

Although studies involving HAs in pharmaceutical and cosmetics applications remain scarce, the results note the potential of HAs as functional agents in the prevention or treatment of various diseases.

HAs *in natura* may be used in sunscreen, anti-aging, and skin care products in general due to their ability to absorb in the UV–visible range. Klöcking et al. [46] studied the potential of HAs as a component of lipsticks to prevent the reactivation of the *herpes simplex* virus by UV-light. It was shown that HAs in concentrations higher than 100 μ g ml⁻¹ were able to protect U937 cells from UV-induced damage. These characteristics make HAs viable as components of functional lipsticks.

The antiviral activity of HAs could also be explored in cosmetics as a component of facial masks, which are used for the prevention of viral reactivation after a chemical facial treatment, as described by Wollina [104].

The phenolic groups in HAs act as electron-donating agents, scavenging free radicals and preventing chain reaction initiation. In addition, they are able to chelate metals, particularly iron and cooper, inhibiting the formation of free radicals by transition metal catalysis, controlling lipid peroxidation and DNA fragmentation [30,52]. These antioxidant properties are also useful in cosmetic and pharmaceutical applications.

Khil'ko et al. [30] have evaluated the antioxidant capacity of HAs from brown coal through their behavior in inhibiting radical-chain oxidation process of cumene and ethylbenzene initiated by azobisisobutyronitrile (AIBN) and dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). It was verified that the rate of oxygen absorption decreased significantly in the presence of HAs, and at high concentrations (10 g L^{-1}), the oxidation process was completely halted. Adam & Needham suggested the use of HAs derivatives as natural antioxidants for food preservatives but with potential use for a variety of purposes, such as in cosmetic applications and as nutritional supplements. These derivatives were obtained by reductive cleavage techniques and were more efficient and cost effective than other food antioxidants.

Indirectly, HAs could act as solubilizing agents, carrying pharmaceutical and cosmetic active ingredients in their micelle-like structures to enhance their water solubility. Carbamazepine (CBZ) is an antiepileptic drug that is practically insoluble in water and therefore has a poor bioavailability. Mirza et al. [15] evaluated the water solubility, release, and anticonvulsant activity of CBZ complexed with HAs. The solubility of the complex was greatly increased compared to that of the free drug and that of the drug release conducted in a dialysis bag. The anticonvulsant activity was studied in mice using the maximum electroshock seizure (MES) experiment, and the potency of CBZ-HAs was threefold higher than that of the free drug.

Complexes of β -carotene and HAs were synthesized by Martini et al. [16] to increase β -carotene water solubility. These carotenoids have important biological activities, including antioxidant properties and as a precursor of vitamin A, but their hydrophobicity restricts their use in the pharmaceutical, cosmetic, and food fields. The authors showed that the water solubility of β -carotene was strongly increased by complexation to HAs, and its stability towards light irradiation was improved by approximately 60%.

Ghosal [86] and Khanna et al. [87] developed delivery systems from HSs for active ingredients (pharmaceutical, nutritional, and cosmetic) with low solubility. The systems consisted of complexes between HSs and drugs produced by hydrophobic bonding, covalent bonding, or chelation. These systems were capable of increasing drug solubility, permeability, and bioavailability and were suitable for topical or oral administration. Therefore, HAs are a promising matrix for the incorporation of bioactive ingredients in nano- or microstructures.

4.3. Toxicity

HAs toxicity is recognized as being remarkably low [105–107]. Dermal tests conducted on both rats and rabbits revealed no abnormalities in acute or chronic toxicity studies with HS preparations, and no local irritancy was observed [105]. The effects of ocular irritation caused by HAs were also evaluated by Hen's Egg Test-Chorion Allantoic Membrane (HET-CAM) testing by Wiegleb et al. [108], and irritation in mucous membranes and skin was not detectable at HAs concentrations up to 10%. Sato et al. [44] conducted mutagenic tests using *Salmonella typhimurium* TA100 and TA98, and mutagenic effects were not observed for HAs preparations.

Nonetheless, the ROS present in HAs could mediate toxicity at certain concentrations [109,110]. Some works in the literature have reported HAs as being toxic to many mammalian cells [111–113] and contributing to Blackfoot disease [114]; both of these activities are related to ROS.

Nevertheless, the phenolic portions of HAs are able to slow the oxidative transformation of quinones [52]. HAs have a "buffering effect", which means that they are able to produce and to bind ROS [42]. This finding is in agreement with the view that HAs have great potential as natural antioxidants despite the presence of quinone groups.

5. Novel technological developments

HAs have substantial potential to be used in pharmaceutical and cosmetics areas because they can act directly or indirectly in the prevention and remediation of many complications of the human body.

These functional effects could be improved through the interaction of HAs with surfactants [115,116]. In previous work, we demonstrated that HAs were able to interact with the nonionic surfactant PF127 by amphiphilic and electrostatic interactions due to their amphiphilic character and their potential to assume a negative charge by deprotonation of the OH/OOH groups [47]. The interactions formed stable and spherical HAs-PF127 nanoparticles with a highly hydrophobic core, which can be used for pharmaceutical applications as-is or after entrapping nonpolar drugs, increasing their water solubility and bioavailability.

6. Conclusions

HAs have been widely explored for several years for their benefits in agriculture and pollution remediation. They are known to enhance plant growth and nutrition and act as soil bactericidal and plant fungicidal agents, and they can be used to remove pollutants from water and soil. In medicine, they can act as antiviral and anti-inflammatory agents; have uses in wound healing, cancer and prion disease therapy; and exhibit antimutagenic/desmutagenic potential. In pharmaceutical and cosmetic areas, the use of HAs is recent but very promising. They are known to protect against UV-vis radiation and can act as antioxidants. Further applications include their use as solubilizing agents and for transporting hydrophobic active compounds, two applications that may be improved by their administration as HAs-surfactant nanoparticles. This novel technology will enable the production of stable HAs nanoparticles, with a large hydrophobic core that could be used for the encapsulation of nonpolar drugs, improving their delivery and bioavailability.

Acknowledgments

This work has been supported by CNPq (131662/2014-7) (Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico) and FAPESP (2013/05525-4) (Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo).

References

- P. Maccarthy, The principles of humic substances: an introduction to the first principle, Soil Sci. 166 (2001) 738–751.
- [2] F.L. Motta, M.H.A. Santana, Production of humic acids from oil palm empty fruit bunch by submerged fermentation with Trichoderma viride; cellulosic substrates and nitrogen sources, Biotechnol. Prog. 29 (2013) 631–637.

- [3] D. Sławińska, P. Rolewski, J. Sławiński, Synthesis and properties of model humic substances derived from gallic acid, Int. Agrophys. 21 (2) (2007) 199–208.
- [4] K. Kiprop, M.-C. J-Coumon, E. Pourtier, S. Kimutai, S. Kirui, Synthesis of humic and fulvic acids and their characterization using optical spectroscopy (ATR-FTIR and UV-visible), Int. J. Appl. Sci. Technol. 3 (8) (2013) 28–35.
- [5] F.J. Stevenson, Humus Chemistry: Genesis, Composition, Reactions, John Wiley & Sons, 1994.
- [6] M. Klučáková, M. Pekař, Solubility and dissociation of lignitic humic acids in water suspension, Colloids Surf. A Physicochem. Eng. Asp. 252 (2–3) (2005) 157–163.
- [7] H. Kipton, J. Powell, R.M. Town, Solubility and fractionation of humic acid; effect of pH and ionic medium, Anal. Chim. Acta 267 (1) (1992) 47–54.
- [8] R. von Wandruszka, C. Ragle, R. Engebretson, The role of selected cations in the formation of pseudomicelles in aqueous humic acid, Talanta 44 (5) (1997) 805–809.
 [9] R. von Wandruszka, Humic acids: their detergent qualities and potential uses in
- pollution remediation, Geochem. Trans. 1 (2) (2000) 10. [10] P. Lassen, L. Carlsen, Solubilization of phenanthrene by humic acids, Chemosphere
- 34 (4) (1997) 817–825.
 [11] P. Lassen, L. Carlsen, The effect of humic acids on the water solubility and water organic carbon partitioning of fluorene and its NSO-heteroanalogues: carbazole, dibenzofuran, and dibenzothiophene, Chemosphere 38 (13) (1999) 2959–2968.
- [12] M.C. Tejeda-Agredano, P. Mayer, J.J. Ortega-Calvo, The effect of humic acids on biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons depends on the exposure regime, Environ. Pollut. 184 (2014) 435–442.
- [13] W.P. Johnson, W.W. John, PCE solubilization and mobilization by commercial humic acid, J. Contam. Hydrol. 35 (1999) 343–362.
- [14] D.R. Van Stempvoort, S. Lesage, Binding of methylated naphthalenes to concentrated aqueous humic acid, Adv. Environ. Res. 6 (4) (2002) 495–504.
- [15] M.A. Mirza, S.P. Agarwal, M.A. Rahman, A. Rauf, N. Ahmad, A. Alam, Z. Iqbal, Role of humic acid on oral drug delivery of an antiepileptic drug, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 37 (3) (2011) 310–319.
- [16] S. Martini, C. D'Addario, C. Bonechi, G. Leone, A.A. Tognazzi, M. Consumi, A.A. Magnani, C. Rossi, Increasing photostability and water-solubility of carotenoids: synthesis and characterization of β-carotene-humic acid complexes, J. Photochem. Photobiol. B Biol. 101 (3) (2010) 355–361.
- [17] C. Steelink, G.R. Aiken, D.M. McKnight, R.L. Wershaw, P. MacCarthy, Elemental Characteristics of Humic Substances, Humic Substances in Soil, Sediment, and Water, Wiley 1985, pp. 457–476.
- [18] G. Sposito, Sorption of trace metals by humic materials in soils and natural waters, Crit. Rev. Environ. Control. 16 (1986) 193–229.
- [19] M. Perdue, Acidic functional groups of humic substances, in: G.R. Aiken, M.D. McKnight, R.L. Wershaw, P. MacCarthy (Eds.), Humic Substances in Soil, Sediment and Water, Wiley 1985, pp. 494–526.
- [20] Y. Chen, F.J. Stevenson, Soil organic matter interactions with trace elements, in: Y. Chen, Y. Avnimelech (Eds.), The Role of Organic Matter in Modern Agriculture 1986, pp. 73–116.
- [21] Y. Chen, Organic matter reactions involving micronutrients in soils and their effect on plants, in: A. Piccolo (Ed.), Humic Substances in Terrestrial Ecosystems Elsevier 1996, pp. 507–529.
- [22] A. Piccolo, S. Nardi, G. Concheri, Structural characteristics of humic substances as related to nitrate uptake and growth regulation in plant systems, Soil Biol. Biochem. 24 (4) (1992) 373–380.
- [23] M.M. Tahir, M. Khurshid, M.Z. Khan, M.K. Abbasi, M.H. Kazmi, Lignite-derived humic acid effect on growth of wheat plants in different soils, Pedosphere 21 (1) (2011) 124–131.
- [24] LM. Yates, R. von Wandruszka, Decontamination of polluted water by treatment with a crude humic acid blend, Environ. Sci. Technol. 33 (12) (1999) 2076–2080.
- [25] D. Schols, P. Wutzler, R. Klöcking, B. Helbig, E. De Clercq, Selective inhibitory action of polyhydroxycarboxylates derived from phenolic compounds against human immunodeficiency virus replication, J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. 7 (1991) 677–685.
- [26] M. Zanetti, Treatment of HIV infection with humic acid, WO Patent number 008335, 1995.
- [27] R. Klöcking, B. Helbig, Medical aspects and applications of humic substances, Biopolym. Lignin Humic Subst. Coal. (2005) 3–16.
- [28] R. Junek, R. Morrow, J.I. Schoenherr, R. Schubert, R. Kallmeyer, S. Phull, R. Klöcking, Bimodal effect of humic acids on the LPS-induced TNF-α release from differentiated U937 cells, Phytomedicine 16 (5) (2009) 470–476.
- [29] J. Neyts, R. Snoeck, P. Wutzler, B. Helbig, P. Wang, E. De Clercq, Poly (hydroxy) carboxylates as selective inhibitors of cytomegalovirus and herpes simplex virus replication, Antivir. Chem. Chemother. 3 (1992) 215–222.
- [30] S.L. Khil'ko, I.V. Efimova, O.V. Smirnova, Antioxidant properties of humic acids from brown coal, Solid Fuel Chem. 45 (6) (2011) 367–371.
- [31] G. Ferrara, E. Loffredo, N. Senesi, R. Marcos, Humic acids reduce the genotoxicity of mitomycin C in the human lymphoblastoid cell line TK6, Mutat. Res. 603 (1) (2006) 27–32.
- [32] D.J. Hassett, M.S.I. Bise, R. Hartenstein, Bactericidal action of humic acids, Soil Biol. Biochem. 19 (1) (1987) 111–113.
- [33] Y. Siddiqui, S. Meon, R. Ismail, M. Rahmani, A. Ali, In vitro fungicidal activity of humic acid fraction from oil palm compost, Int. J. Agric. Biol. 1 (2009) 448–452.
- [34] D. Vaughan, R.E. Malcom, Influence of humic substances on growth and physiological processes, in: D. Vaughan, R.E. Malcom (Eds.), Soil Organic Matter and Biological Activity, Springer Netherlands, 1985.
- [35] S. Nardi, D. Pizzeghello, Physiological effects of humic substances on higher plants, Soil Biol. Biochem. 34 (2002) 1527–1536.
- [36] M.A. Rashid, Geochemistry of Marine Compounds, Springer-Verlag, 1985.

- [37] I.V. Perminova, K. Hatfield, N. Hertkorn, The use of humic substances to remediate polluted environment: From theory to practice, NATO Sciences Series. , Springer, 2002
- [38] P. Calvo, L. Nelson, J.W. Kloepper, Agricultural uses of plant biostimulants, Plant Soil 383 (1–2) (2014) 3–41.
- [39] L.P. Canellas, F.L. Olivares, N.O. Aguiar, D.L. Jones, A. Nebbioso, P. Mazzei, A. Piccolo, Humic and fulvic acids as biostimulants in horticulture, Sci. Hortic. 196 (2015) 15–27.
- [40] W.W. Tang, G.M. Zeng, J.L. Gong, J. Liang, P. Xu, C. Zhang, B. Bin Huang, Impact of humic/fulvic acid on the removal of heavy metals from aqueous solutions using nanomaterials: a review, Sci. Total Environ. 468–469 (2014) 1014–1027.
- [41] Z. Sun, B. Tang, H. Xie, Treatment of waste gases by humic acid, Energy Fuel 29 (3) (2015) 1269–1278.
- [42] I. Jurcsik, Possibilities of applying humic acids in medicine (wound healing and cancer therapy), in: N. Senesi, T.M. Milano (Eds.), Humic Substances in the Global Environment, Elsevier, Amsterdam, London, New York, Tokyo 1994, pp. 1331–1336.
- [43] G.A. Legname, L. Leita, P. Sequi, Humic substances and therapeutic uses thereof, WO Patent number 2011007320, 2011.
- [44] T. Sato, Y. Ose, H. Nagase, Desmutagenic effect of humic acid, Mutat. Res. 162 (1986) 173–178.
- [45] C.E. van Rensburg, The antiinflammatory properties of humic substances: a mini review, Phytother. Res. (2015) 791–795.
- [46] R. Klöcking, Y. Felber, M. Guhr, G. Meyer, R. Schubert, J.I. Schoenherr, Development of an innovative peat lipstick based on the UV-B protective effect of humic substances, Mires Peat 11 (2013) 1–9.
- [47] B.A.G. de Melo, F.L. Motta, M.H.A. Santana, The interactions between humic acids and Pluronic F127 produce nanoparticles useful for pharmaceutical applications, J. Nanoparticle Res. 17 (10) (2015) 400.
- [48] M.E. Peña-Méndez, J. Havel, J. Patočka, Humic substances compounds of still unknown structure : applications in agriculture, industry, environment, and biomedicine, J. Appl. Biomed. 3 (2005) 13–24.
- [49] K. Thorn, D. Folan, P. MacCarthy, Characterization of the international humic substances society standard and reference fulvic acid and humic acids by solution state carbon-13 (13C) and hydrogen-1 (1H) nuclear magnetic resonance spectrometry, Water Resour. Invest. Rep. 89–4196 (1989) 99 (13).
- [50] M. Schnitzer, Recent findings on the characterization of humic substances extracted from soils from widely differing climatic zones, Symposium of Organic Matter Studies Braunschweig Int. Atomic Energy Agence Viena, no. 2 1977, pp. 117–131.
- [51] D.T. Scott, D.M. Mcknight, E.L. Blunt-Harris, S.E. Kolesar, D.R. Lovley, Quinone moieties act as electron acceptors in the reduction of humic substances by humicsreducing microorganisms, Environ. Sci. Technol. 32 (19) (1998) 2984–2989.
- [52] M. Aeschbacher, C. Graf, R.P. Scwarzenbach, M. Sander, Antioxidant properties of humic substances, Environ. Sci. Technol. 46 (2012) 4916–4925.
- [53] M. Velasco, P. Campitelli, S. Ceppi, J. Havel, Analysis of humic acid from compost of urban wastes and soil by fluorescence spectroscopy, Agriscientia 21 (1) (2004) 31–38.
- [54] M. Klavins, O. Purmalis, Humic substances as surfactants, Environ. Chem. Lett. 8 (4) (2010) 349–354.
- [55] JA. Rice, P. MacCarthy, Statistical evaluation of the elemental composition of humic substances, Org. Geochem. 17 (5) (1991) 635–648.
- [56] P. Stathi, Y. Deligiannakis, Humic acid-inspired hybrid materials as heavy metal absorbents, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 351 (1) (2010) 239–247.
- [57] J.M. De la Rosa, M. Santos, M.F. Araújo, Metal binding by humic acids in recent sediments from the SW Iberian coastal area, Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 93 (4) (2011) 478–485.
- [58] Y. Wang, D. Zhou, X. Zhu, S. Jin, Humic acid and metal ions accelerating the dechlorination of 4-chlorobiphenyl by nanoscale zero-valent iron, J. Environ. Sci. 23 (8) (2011) 1286–1292.
- [59] M. Kalina, M. Klučáková, P. Sedláček, Utilization of fractional extraction for characterization of the interactions between humic acids and metals, Geoderma 207–208 (1) (2013) 92–98.
- [60] P. Gadad, H. Lei, M. Nanny, Characterization of noncovalent interactions between 6-propionyl-2-dimethylaminonaphthalene (PRODAN) and dissolved fulvic and humic acids, Water Res. 41 (2007) 4488–4496.
- [61] J. Lu, Y. Li, X. Yan, B. Shi, D. Wang, H. Tang, Sorption of atrazine onto humic acids (HAs) coated nanoparticles, Colloids Surf. A Physicochem. Eng. Asp. 347 (1–3) (2009) 90–96.
- [62] N. Suzuki, S. Koussevitzky, R. Mittler, G. Miller, ROS and redox signalling in the response of plants to abiotic stress, Plant Cell Environ. 35 (2) (2012) 259–270.
- [63] F.C. Cordeiro, C. Santa-Catarina, V. Silveira, S.R. de Souza, Humic acid effect on catalase activity and the generation of reactive oxygen species in corn (*Zea mays*), Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 75 (1) (2011) 70–74.
- [64] A. García, R. Berbara, L. Farías, F. Izquierdo, O. Hernández, R. Campos, R. Castro, Humic acids of vermicompost as an ecological pathway to increase resistance of rice seedlings to water stress, Afr. J. Biotechnol. 11 (13) (2014) 3125–3134.
- [65] Y. Fujimura, A. Katayama, S. Kuwatsuka, Inhibitory-action of dissolved humic substances on the growth of soil bacteria degrading Ddt, Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 40 (3) (1994) 525–530.
- [66] H. Schultz, W. Wildenhain, R. Klscring, D. Mücke, Antiviral properties of humic acids, Experientia 78 (5) (1972) 607–608.
- [67] CJ.E. van Rensburg, P.J. Naude, Potassium humate inhibits complement activation and the production of inflammatory cytokines in vitro, Inflammation 32 (4) (2009) 270–276.
- [68] G.K. Jooné, C.E.J. van Rensburg, An in vitro investigation of the anti-inflammatory properties of potassium humate, Inflammation 28 (3) (2004) 169–174.

- [69] J.J. Gandy, J.P. Meeding, J.R. Snyman, C.E.J. van Rensburg, Clinical efficacy of potassium humate in the treatment of allergic rhinitis: double-blind placebo-controlled trial, Drug Dev. Res. 71 (6) (2010) 358–363.
- [70] L. Galzigna, C. Ceschi-Berrini, E. Moschin, C. Tolomio, Thermal as an antiinflammatory treatment, Biomed. Pharmacother. 5 (1998) 408–409.
- [71] I. Marova, J. Kucerik, K. Duronova, A. Mikulcova, Z. Vlckova, Antimutagenic and/or genotoxic effects of processed humic acids as tested upon S. Cerevisiae D7, Environ. Chem. Lett. 9 (2) (2011) 229–233.
- [72] G. Ferrara, E. Loffredo, N. Senesi, Anticlastogenic, antitoxic and sorption effects of humic substances on the mutagen maleic hydrazide tested in leguminous plants, Eur. J. Soil Sci. 55 (3) (2004) 449–458.
- [73] R. Cozzi, M. Nicolai, P. Perticone, R. De Salvia, F. Spuntarelli, Desmutagenic activity of natural humic acids: inhibition of mitomycin C and maleic hydrazide mutagenicity, Mutat. Res. 299 (1) (1993) 37–44.
- [74] M.M. Kononova, Soil Organic Matter: Its Nature, Its Role in Soil Formation and in Soil Fertility, Pergamon Press, 1966.
- [75] T. Brzozowski, A. Dembiński, S. Konturek, Influence of Tołpa Peat Preparation on gastroprotection and on gastric and duodenal ulcers, Acta Pol. Pharm. 51 (1) (1994) 103–107.
- [76] J. Pan, E. Simamura, J. Koyama, H. Shimada, K.I. Hirai, Induced apoptosis and necrosis by 2-methylfuranonaphtoquinone in human cervical cancer HeLa cells, Cancer Detect, Prev. 24 (3) (2000) 266–274.
- [77] S. Sagar, I.R. Green, Pro-apoptotic activities of novel synthetic quinones in human cancer cell lines, Cancer Lett. 285 (1) (2009) 23–27.
- [78] P. Morales, D. Vara, M. Gomez-Canas, M.C. Zuniga, C. Olea-Azar, P. Goya, J. Fernandez-Ruiz, I. Diaz-Laviada, N. Jagerovic, Synthetic cannabinoid quinones: preparation, in vitro antiproliferative effects and in vivo prostate antitumor activity, Eur. J. Med. Chem. 70 (2013) 111–119.
- [79] S. Endo, A. Nishiyama, M. Suyama, M. Takemura, M. Soda, H. Chen, K. Tajima, O. El-Kabbani, Y. Bunai, A. Hara, T. Matsunaga, A. Ikari, Protective roles of aldo-keto reductase 1B10 and autophagy against toxicity induced by p-quinone metabolites of tert-butylhydroquinone in lung cancer A549 cells, Chem. Biol. Interact. 234 (2014) 282–289.
- [80] K. Pant, B. Singh, N. Thakur, Shilajit: a humic matter panacea for cancer, Int. J. Toxicol. Pharmacol. Res. 4 (2) (2012) 17–25.
- [81] J. Kučerík, B. Bakajová, M. Pekař, Antioxidant effect of lignite humic acids and its salts on the thermo-oxidative stability/degradation of polyvinyl alcohol blends, Environ. Chem. Lett. 6 (4) (2008) 241–245.
- [82] J. Vašková, B. Veliká, M. Pilátová, I. Kron, L. Vaško, Effects of humic acids in vitro, In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Anim. 47 (5–6) (2011) 376–382.
- [83] S. Dhanapal, D.S. Sekar, Antioxidant potential of coal extracted humic acid on invitro propagation of Musa accuminata: a comparison study with humic rooting and keradix, Int. J. Innov. Res. Sci. Eng. Technol. 3 (6) (2014) 13649–13657.
- [84] A.S. Tarasova, D.I. Stom, N.S. Kudryasheva, Antioxidant activity of humic substances via bioluminescent monitoring in vitro, Environ. Monit. Assess. 187 (3) (2015) 89.
- [85] N.P. Avvakumova, A.Y. Gerchikov, V.R. Khairullina, A.V. Zhdanova, Antioxidant properties of humic substances isolated from peloids, Pharm. Chem. J. 45 (3) (2011) 2–3.
- [86] S. Ghosal, Patentes delivery system for pharmaceutical, nutritional and cosmetic ingredients, US Patent number 6,558,712, 2003.
- [87] R. Khanna, S.P. Agarwal, R.K. Khar, Fulvic acids and humic acids as novel complexing agents and a process Indian, Patent number 239574, 2010.
- [88] M.A. Mirza, M.A. Rahman, S. Talegaonkar, In vitro/in vivo performance of different complexes of itraconazole used in the treatment of vaginal candidiasis, Braz. J. Pharm. Sci. 48 (14) (2012) 759–772.
- [89] A.G.S. Prado, J. Pertusatti, A.R. Nunes, Aspects of protonation and deprotonation of humic scid durface on molecular conformation, J. Braz. Chem. Soc. 22 (8) (2011) 1478–1483.
- [90] K. Ghosh, M. Schnitzer, Macromolecular structures of humic substances, Soil Sci. 129 (1980) 266–276.
- [91] P. Severino, T. Andreani, A.S. Macedo, J.F. Fangueiro, M.H.A. Santana, A.M. Silva, E.B. Souto, Current state-of-art and new trends on lipid nanoparticles (SLN and NLC) for oral drug delivery, J. Drug Deliv. (2012) 750891.
- [92] T.M. Allen, P.R. Cullis, Liposomal drug delivery systems: from concept to clinical applications, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 65 (1) (2013) 36–48.
- [93] T. Irie, Cyclodextrins in peptide and protein delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 36 (1) (1999) 101–123.
 (1999) 101–123.
 (24) C. Harrison, M. Farrison, A. Fischer, J. Balance, J. Status, J. S
- [94] C.E. Mora-Huertas, H. Fessi, A. Elaissari, Polymer-based nanocapsules for drug delivery, Int. J. Pharm. 385 (1–2) (2010) 113–142.
- [95] C.A. Rice-Evans, N.J. Miller, G. Paganga, C. Rice-Evans, N.J. Miller, G. Paganga, Antioxidant properties of phenolic compounds, Trends Plant Sci. 2 (4) (1997) 152–159.
- [96] V.A. Litvin, B.F. Minaev, Spectroscopy study of silver nanoparticles fabrication using synthetic humic substances and their antimicrobial activity, Spectrochim. Acta A Mol. Biomol. Spectrosc. 108 (2013) 115–122.
- [97] I. Christl, C.J. Milne, D.G. Kinniburgh, R. Kretzschmar, Relating ion binding by fulvic and humic acids to chemical composition and molecular size. 2. Metal binding, Environ. Sci. Technol. 35 (12) (2001) 2512–2517.
- [98] R.R. Engebretson, R. von Wandruszka, Microorganization in dissolved humic acids, Environ. Sci. Technol. 28 (11) (1994) 1934–1941.
- [99] I. Christl, R. Kretzschmar, Relating ion binding by fulvic and humic acids to chemical composition and molecular size. 1. Proton binding, Environ. Sci. Technol. 35 (12) (2001) 2505–2511.
- [100] D.M. El Bahri, N. Meddeb, S. Sellami, Rheumatoid arthritis: current status of therapy, Tunis. Med. 85 (2007) 1–8.
- [101] J. Kim, D.G. Remick, Tumor necrosis factor inhibitors for the treatment of asthma, Curr. Allergy Asthma Rep. 7 (2) (2007) 151–156.

- [102] S.B. Prusiner, Prions, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 95 (1998) 13363–13383.
- [103] I. Müller, A. Jenner, G. Bruchelt, D. Niethammer, B. Halliwell, Effect of concentration on the cytotoxic mechanism of doxorubicin—apoptosis and oxidative DNA damage, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 230 (2) (1997) 254–257.
- [104] U. Wollina, Peat: a natural source for dermatocosmetics and dermatotherapeutics, J. Cutan. Aesthet. Surg. 2 (1) (2009) 17–20.
- [105] H. Czyzewska-Szafran, Z. Jastrzebski, D. Sołtysiak-Pawluczuk, M. Wutkiewicz, A. Jedrych, M. Remiszewska, Systemic toxicity and dermal irritation of Tołpa Peat Preparation, Acta Pol. Pharm. 50 (4–5) (1993) 373–377.
- [106] U.N. Riede, I. Jonas, B. Kirn, U.H. Usener, W. Kreutz, W. Schlickewey, Collagen stabilization induced by natural humic substances, Arch. Orthop. Trauma Surg. 111 (1992) 259–264.
- [107] K.D. Thiel, B. Helbig, R. Klöcking, P. Wutzler, M. Sprössig, H. Schweizer, Comparison of the in vitro activities of ammonium humate and of enzymically oxidized chlorogenic and caffeic acids against type 1 and type 2 human herpes virus, Pharmazie 36 (1) (1981) 50–53.
- [108] K. Wiegleb, N. Lange, M. Kühnert, The use of the HET-CAM test for the determination of the irritating effects of humic acids, Dtsch. Tierarztl. Wochenschr. 100 (10) (1993) 412–416.
- [109] I. Fridovics, The biology of oxygen radicals, Science 201 (1978) 875-880.
- [110] S. Qi, G. Hartog, A. Bast, Damage to lung epithelial cells and lining fluid antioxidant defense by humic acid, Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 26 (1) (2008) 96–101.
- [111] H.-L. Yang, Y.-C. Hseu, Y.-T. Hseu, F.-J. Lu, E. Lin, J.-S. Lai, Humic acid induces apoptosis in human premyelocytic leukemia HL-60 cells, Life Sci. 75 (15) (2004) 1817–1831.
- [112] F.-J. Lu, T.-H. Tseng, W.-J. Lee, C.-C. Yen, Y.-F. Yin, C.-W. Liao, K.-M. Liu, Promoting neoplastic transformation of humic acid in mouse epidermal JB6 Cl41 cells, Chem. Biol. Interact. 162 (3) (2006) 249–258.
- [113] W.J. Lee, F.J. Lu, S.F. Wang, Y.R. Chen, T.H. Tseng, In vitro enhancement effect of humic acid on the progression of lung cancer cells, Chem. Biol. Interact. 181 (3) (2009) 463–471.
- [114] M.L. Cheng, H.Y. Ho, D.T. Chiu, F.J. Lu, Humic acid-mediated oxidative damages to human erythrocytes: a possible mechanism leading to anemia in Blackfoot disease, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 27 (3–4) (1999) 470–477.
- [115] M. Matsuda, A. Kaminaga, K. Hayakawa, N. Takisawa, T. Miyajima, Surfactant binding by humic acids in the presence of divalent metal salts, Colloids Surf. A Physicochem. Eng. Asp. 347 (2009) 45–49.
- [116] M. Ishiguro, L.K. Koopal, Predictive model of cationic surfactante binding to humic substances, Colloids Surf. A Physicochem. Eng. Asp. 379 (2011) 70–78.



Bruna Alice G de Melo B.S. in Chemistry at the University of Campinas, Brazil (2011). Specialization in Material Sciences and Nano Objects at Pierre and Marie Curie University, France (2013). Presently working towards a master's degree in Chemical Engineering at the University of Campinas, Brazil, with emphasis on the production and characterization of humic acid nanoparticles for pharmaceutical applications.



Fernanda Lopes Motta B.S. in Food Engineering at the University of Viçosa (2007). Specialization in Biotechnology at the Institut National Polytechnique de Lorraine (INPL) France (2006), Master's Degree in Food Engineering at the University of Campinas (2010). PhD (2013) and postdoctoral research (2013-2015) in Chemical Engineering at the University of Campinas. Experience in biotechnology, with emphasis on fermentation, enzymatic process and nanoparticle production.



Maria Helena A Santana B.S. in Industrial Chemistry at University of Sergipe (1972). B.S. in Chemical Engineering from the University of Maringa (1976). Master's in the Science and Technology of Food at the University of Campinas (1980). DSc in Mechanical Engineering at the University of Campinas (1988). Postdoctoral research in Chemical Engineering at North Carolina State University (USA) (1993). Presently is a full professor at the School of Chemical Engineering of the University of Campinas, Brazil. Coordinates the Laboratory for Development of Biotechnological Processes. Elected member of the National Academy of Engineering (2014).